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DESCRIBE THE.PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (it known) PHYSICAL. APPEARANCE

The Cosmos Club (Townsend House) faces south onto Massachusetts Avenue. 
It is located on the corner of Florida Avenue, Twenty-second Street, and 
Massachusetts Avenue and has a paved semicircular driveway defined by a 
guilloche balustrade leading to the marquise.**Finished in 1900, the facade 
of the mansion consists of Louis XV elements on a^eau^-Arts facade.

The main 3-1/2 story, three-bay block is 36 feet wide by 98 feet deep, 
while its 2-story flanking composite bay wings are 34 feet wide by 54 feet 
deep. The house sits on a plain Milford granite base which extends as high 
as the ground floor window sills. The ground floor has rusticated limestone 
walls separated from the first floor by a string course. The windows of the 
ground floor are double-hung, 2/2-light windows, which are protected by de­ 
corative cast-iron screens.^* The central ground floor window in each of the 
side wings is similar and is flanked by 1/1-light windows and framed by the 
first floor balcony consoles, the string course, and an over-frieze panel of 
fruit.
^The main entrance is in the center of the main block and can be described 

as a half-glazed, double entrance door with protective wrought-iron tracery. 
The cast iron and frosted glass marquise consists of decorative iron side 
panels and consoles which support a canopy with fleur-de-lis fringe and cen­ 
tral escutcheon mount.^

Oj»Th.e first floor is separated from the ground floor by a string course with 
a false, plain balustrade which extends to support four, fluted, composite 
two-story pilasters which punctuate the window bays of the main block.^The 
false balustrade is broken at each main block opening by a decorative, cast- 
iron railing. In the center of each wing the false balustrade is broken by 
a limestone balcony consisting of concave end consoles, each with drape, 
pendant, and rosette, supporting an extension of the building string course 
which acts as a base for a banister of urn balusters and blocks.
*The first floor has floor-length, single pane, casement windows with tran­ 

soms. The main block lintels are raised and indented to form a rosette 
guilloche frieze flanked by leaf scroll consoles which support a cyma cornice 
and shallow hood. «NkThe hood curves and flattens to form a raised background 
for the third floor casement and transom window architraves consisting of 
crossettes, base scrolls, lintel spray and scrolled keystone.

The first floor central window of each of the flanking wings has a plain 
keystone. The false balustrade supports prominent Quoins, and flanking the 
central window are single, corner indented panels. The plain frieze of the 
wings is broken by the window keystone and overhung by floral drapes and 
pendants above the flanking bay panels. Above the corona cornice is a three 
bay, oval guilloche-baluster balustrade with prominent raised p 
blocks.
^The main block has a slate mansard roof, edged in limest 

a copper torus ridge cap. The flanking slate hipped roofs 
per. The three half-dormer casement bays on the main bio 
cornice balustrade, each having a blind fan, torus architrf 
segmental hood buttressed by scrolls. Two limestone chimri' 
respectively from the brick-surfaced east and west main bl

(Continued on Form 10-300a)
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Joint Committee on Landmarks has designated the Cosmos Club (Townsend 
louse) a Category II Landmark of importance which contributes significantly 
to the cultural heritage and visual beauty of the District of Columbia. i The 
Townsend House is one of the many elegant and often ostentatious mansions 
that lined Massachusetts Avenue in the early decades of the 20th century.
ompleted in 1900 for Richard H. Townsend, a railway magnj|twf the mansion was 

designed by the vell^^clwSC^^m''ox'^afr^^^ad Hastings. Reflecting the 
taste of the period, the house incor^orat¥s""Lo^Ts*aTT"elements on a Beaux- 
lirts facade. The Cosmos Club, a club whose membership includes distinguishes 
men in the fields of science, literature and the arts, purchased the house 
in 1950. fv

The Townsend House, which incorporated the walls of the Hillyer House, was 
egun in 1898 and completed in 1900. The earlier house was built in 1873 by 
lurtis Justin Hillyer, an att;bfney engaged in mining speculation in Cali­ 
fornia and Colorado. It is said that part of the Hillyer House was incor­ 
porated in the new mansion because of Mrs. Townsend 1 s superstitious fear of 
inhabiting a totally new home. Richard H. Townsend, who commissioned the
irm of Carrere and Hastings to design the house, was president of the Erie 

and Pittsburgh railroad. The house was the center of Washington social 
activity, and it was said that Mrs. Townsend spent as much as $240,000 a yea 
for entertainment. After the death of her husband in 1902, Mrs. Townsend 
continued to live in the house with their daughter, Mathilde. Mathilde's

first marriage to Senator Peter Goelet Gerry ended in .divorce, and in 1925 he married Benjamin Sumner Welles, who was to become Under Secretary of 
tate. Mathilde inherited the property from her mother, and it was during 

tier ownership that the mansion became the temporary residence jof: Franklin 
pelano Roosevelt for a few weeks before he entered the White House. 
""During forld War II, in January 1942, the American Women's Volunteer 
ervice used the stables as a canteen. In 1943 the above group moved out, 

land the house was occupied by the Canadian Women's Army Corps Headquarters 
(Detachment.

After the death of his wife, Mathilde, in 1949, Welles sold the house to 
|the Cosmos Club for $364,365. Extensive alterations were carried out at thi 
fime, and further additions and modifications occurred in 1961 and 1971.

The Cosmos Club was founded on November 16, 187S, by John Wesley Powell 
(a famous explorer and scientist) and a number of men sharing similar 
interests. The Club membership includes distinguished men in the fields of 
jscience, literature and the fine arts. Over the years the membership has 
included three presidents of the U.S., 12 nobel prize winners, and many 
|Pulitzer Prize winners.

(Continued on Form 10-300a) ___________



Information coinpiled by the Commission of Fine Arts, and currently on file 
at the Commission of Fine Arts.

Information compiled by the Cosmos Club, and currently on file at the Club.
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LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES 
1 DEFINING THE CENTER POINT OF A PROPERTY 
. OF LESS THAN TEN ACRES

LATITUDE LONGITUDE

Degrees Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutes Seconds

38° 54 ' 41 " 77° 02* 53*'
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Suzanne Ganschinietz, Architectural Historian
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7. Description - Cosmos Club

The lavish interior of the Cosmos Club has been finely preserved and main­ 
tained and serves well the social functions of the Club. The interiors are 
eclectic in style and contain elements of 18th Century French, English, and 
Germanic styles, especially the French styles of Louis XIV and Louis XV. The 
ground floor entrance has plaster mantles in the Louis XIV manner; paired 
piers and grey-veined white marble Ionic columns serve as a screen which di­ 
vides the entrance hall from the Louis XV stairhall. The stairhall, with its 
decorative wreath, cast-iron railing leads to the first floor which contains 
the main rooms. The first floor reception room is decorated in mid-eighteenth 
century Germanic manner. The library has an impressive ceiling with geometric 
rinceau panels painted white and separated by wooden beams with plaster 
crossing bosses and talon edging painted to simulate wood. The mantel which 
dominates the rest of the room is in the 16th century manner. The Long Gal­ 
lery has oak panels, decorative panel work painted to simulate wood, and fire­ 
places in the manner of Louis XIV. The original brocatel panels in the dining 
room have been painted to simulate wood. The ballroom, the most ornate of the 
rooms, is done in the 18th century French manner. The room is richly orna­ 
mented and gilded and has an elaborate decorative rococo coved cornice. Withir 
the cove and centered above each wall is a cartouche flanked by dragons, while 
at the corners are similar devices flanked by putti. The ceiling which do­ 
minates the room consists of three recessed bays. The end bays each have an 
elliptical rococo panel; the center bay is higher and contains a round 
allegorical canvas.

8. Significance - Cosmos Club

The Club which occupied many different quarters in the intervening period 
acquired the Townsend House in 1950. The house was altered to accommodate the 
needs of the Club by Horace W. Peaslee and Charles H. Tompkins. The 1961 and 
1962 enlargements were handled by architect Frank W. Cole aiid builder George 
W. Lipscomb.

The original architects of the house were Carrere and Hastings. Carrere 
(1858-1911) graduated from the Ecole ,des Beaux Arts and worked in the New York 
office of McKim, Mead and White. He formed his partnership with Hastings in 
1884. Hastings attended Columbia University and then studied at the Ecole des 
Beaux Arts where he met Carrere. In addition to the Townsend House, the firm 
had several important commissions in the National Capital^Jlegd^kincluding the 
Arlington Cemetery Amphitheatre and the Old House and Se^afe^^ff'iC^vbuildings.
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